

DRAFT

Essential elements for safe and high-quality paediatric end-of-life care

National Consensus Statement

OFFICIAL

Published by the Australian Commission on Safety and Quality in Health Care

Level 5, 255 Elizabeth Street, Sydney NSW 2000

Phone: (02) 9126 3600

Email: mail@safetyandquality.gov.au Website: www.safetyandguality.gov.au

ISBN: 978-1-922880-63-5

© Australian Commission on Safety and Quality in Health Care 2025

All material and work produced by the Australian Commission on Safety and Quality in Health Care (the Commission) is protected by copyright. The Commission reserves the right to set out the terms and conditions for the use of such material.

As far as practicable, material for which the copyright is owned by a third party will be clearly labelled. The Commission has made all reasonable efforts to ensure that this material has been reproduced in this publication with the full consent of the copyright owners.

With the exception of any material protected by a trademark, any content provided by third parties and where otherwise noted, all material presented in this publication is licensed under a Creative Commons Attribution-NonCommercial-NoDerivatives 4.0 International licence.



If you would like to reproduce all or part of this resource, please complete our online form at safetyandquality.gov.au/permission-request.

The Commission's preference is that you attribute this publication (and any material sourced from it) using the following citation:

Australian Commission on Safety and Quality in Health Care. National Consensus Statement: Essential elements for safe and high-quality paediatric end-of-life care Sydney: ACSQHC; 2025

Disclaimer

The content of this document is published in good faith by the Commission for information purposes. The document is not intended to provide guidance on particular healthcare choices. You should contact your health care provider for information or advice on particular healthcare choices.

The Commission does not accept any legal liability for any injury, loss or damage incurred by the use of, or reliance on, this document.

Contents

Executive summary	6
Background	7
Purpose	7
Scope	7
Audience	7
Key Terms used in this Document	8
Application	8
Guiding principles	11
Essential elements	14
Section A: Care processes	15
Essential element 1: Recognising end of life	16
Actions	16
Essential element 2: Family-centred communication and shared decision making	18
Actions	18
Essential element 3: Multidisciplinary collaboration and coordination of care	22
Actions	22
Essential element 4: High-quality care	24
Actions	24
Econtial alament & Decomposing to concerns	20
Essential element 5: Responding to concerns Actions	28 28
Actions	20

OFFICIAL

Section B: Organisational processes	30
Essential element 6: Leadership and governance	31
Actions	31
Essential element 7: Support, education and training	34
Actions	34
Essential element 8: Care setting	36
Actions	36
Essential element 9: Evaluation, audit and feedback	37
Actions	37
Essential element 10: Systems to support high quality care	39
Actions	39
Glossary	41
References	46

1

Executive summary

Executive summary

- 3 The death of a baby, child or young person feels unnatural and is deeply distressing for 4 everyone. It is tragic, confronting and can have a profound effect on parents, carers, siblings 5 and family, friends, health professionals, and communities. End-of-life care is a specific phase 6 of the palliative care journey. The health care that children with life-limiting conditions receive 7 in the last years, months and weeks of their lives can help families and loved ones to manage 8 the distress and grief associated with death and dying and maximise the child or young person's quality of life 3, 11-13. Particularly when it is delivered with a culturally responsive 9 10 approach that encompasses the child and families' spiritual needs, cultural protocols and end
- 12 Effective communication and coordination of care is particularly critical at the end of a child or 13 young person's life. Systems should be employed that support collaboration and shared care 14 between healthcare services including general practitioners, acute services, specialist
- 15 paediatric palliative care services, and social care agencies. The aim is to support care that is 16 well coordinated and helps the child or young person receive end-of-life care in their preferred 17 place.
- 18 The National Consensus Statement: Essential elements for safe and high-quality paediatric 19 end-of-life care (the Consensus Statement) provides healthcare services with a best practice, 20 culturally responsive, and family-centred approach to caring for babies, children and young people who are approaching the end of their life. The Consensus Statement provides nine 21 22 guiding principles that define safe and high-quality end-of-life care. These are followed by 10 23 essential elements that outline the key actions that should be applied by healthcare services providing end-of-life care. 24
 - Essential elements 1-5 describe how end-of-life care should be approached and essential elements 6-10 describe the organisational processes required for the effective delivery of safe and high-quality end-of-life care. However, the way the elements are applied will vary according to the local circumstances of the setting, the available resources, the cultural requirements and spiritual beliefs alongside the individual needs and preferences of the child receiving care, and their parents or carers.

30 31

25

26 27

28 29

2

11

of life beliefs.

Background

32

45

- 33 The Consensus Statement specifically covering end-of-life care for children was first released
- 34 in 2016 by the Australian Commission on Safety and Quality in Health Care (the Commission)
- 35 to support the nuanced and complex clinical decision making at end of life in paediatrics. It
- 36 was derived from experts, published evidence, partnership with carers, consumers,
- 37 representatives from public and private hospitals and healthcare services, professional
- colleges, state and territory health departments, and other government agencies. 38
- 39 Evidence supporting safe and high-quality end-of-life care has evolved since the original
- 40 Consensus Statement. This second edition incorporates the findings of two rapid literature
- reviews^{8, 14}, a paediatric rapid literature review ¹⁵ and additional consultation with the paediatric 41
- palliative care sector and those with expertise or interest in paediatric end-of-life care, and 42
- expert committees that advise the Commission and the Australian public. Neonatal-specific 43
- 44 end-of-life care considerations are also included in this second edition.

Purpose

- 46 The purpose of the Consensus Statement is to describe the essential elements for delivering
- 47 safe and high-quality end-of-life care to babies, children and young people in Australia.

Scope 48

- 49 The Consensus Statement applies to all services where health care is provided to children
- approaching the end of their life, including hospitals, hospices, residential care facilities and 50
- 51 home settings.
- 52 The elements within the Consensus Statement are designed to apply to all babies, children or
- young people, and their parents. However, some population groups may have specific needs 53
- 54 or considerations. These have been highlighted within the essential elements.
- 55 The guiding principles, elements and actions in the Consensus Statement may need to be
- 56 applied over an extended period of time for some children or young people and their families.
- End-of-life care is complex and multi-dimensional, and it is likely that aspects of care need to 57
- be revisited as a baby, child or young person's condition changes, and they move through 58
- 59 different developmental phases.
- 60 The guiding principles, elements and actions in the Consensus Statement may need to be
- applied over an extended period of time for some children or young people and their parents 61
- 62 and families. End-of-life care is complex and multi-dimensional, and it is likely that aspects of
- 63 care need to be revisited with changes in the baby, child or young person's young age,
- 64 development phase, decision-making capacity and condition over time and as family,
- 65 quardianship or kinship relationships evolve.

Audience 66

- The Consensus Statement has been developed for: 67
- 68 Healthcare workers who provide health care to babies, children and young people 69 approaching the end of their life
- Healthcare service executives and managers responsible for developing, implementing 70 71 and reviewing systems for delivering paediatric end-of-life care

- 72 Clinical education and training providers, including universities and professional colleges
- 73 Health professional registration, regulation and accreditation agencies
- 74 Planners, program managers and policy makers who are responsible for developing state or territory policies, or other strategic programs delivering end-of-life care 75

Key Terms used in this Document

This document uses a range of terms to describe people, roles and stages of care. A full list of definitions is included in the glossary at the end of the Consensus Statement.

- End-of-life care refers to a specific phase of the palliate care journey. It generally refers to the final 12 months of life, including children whose death is imminent (expected within a few hours or days) and involves support of the family, including parents, siblings, and other caregivers when a child is approaching the end of life.
- Terms related to healthcare professionals, healthcare workers, clinicians and multidisciplinary teams are intended to be inclusive. It is not possible to mention all professional groups in this document. However, we acknowledge that there are many different professional groups that support safe and high-quality end-of-life care.
- Terms such as parent, family and carer have been used throughout the document. It is acknowledged that family structures in Australia are diverse and that where parents or family are mentioned, this document should be read as inclusive of all family structures and legal guardians.
- The terms neonate, baby, child, children and young people are used throughout the document and refer to anyone under the age of 18 years, including babies and neonates (neonates 0-4 weeks).
- First Nations is used to refer to babies, children and young people whose cultural status as an Aboriginal or Torres Strait Islander child is determined by a parent, relatives or other kin. In using the term First Nations, it is recognised that the cultural protocols, practices, customs, rituals and experiences of Sad News and Sorry Business are unique to each child, their family and kinship groups.

Application

76

77

78

79

80 81

82

83 84

85

86

87

88 89

90

91

92 93

94

95

96

97

98

- 100 The Consensus Statement provides a resource for the implementation of actions in the
- National Safety and Quality in Health Services (NSQHS) Standards and the National and 101
- Safety Quality Primary and Community Healthcare Standards, and provides recommended, 102
- 103 rather than mandatory, practice. It also aligns with the third edition of the National Consensus
- Statement: Essential elements for recognising and responding to acute physiological 104
- 105 deterioration ¹⁷. It is intended that these documents be applied together when appropriate. For
- 106 services that are not required to be assessed to standards, the Australian Charter of Health
- 107 Care Rights provides a useful reference framework.
- 108 Healthcare services need to tailor the guiding principles and the essential elements in the
- 109 Consensus Statement to deliver timely, safe and high-quality end-of-life care suited to their
- 110 setting, the needs of their population and available resources. They also need to align their
- 111 work with relevant national, state and territory legislation or other programs. These should
- 112 work in synergy with local processes for recognising and responding to acute physiological
- 113 deterioration.
- 114 Parents have a special role as caregivers and decision-makers in ensuring the best interests
- 115 for their child. Consideration should be given to the preferences of the child and their parents
- 116 for both the place of care and place of death. It may be their wish for the child to die at home.

OFFICIAL

- This means that parents provide care to their child throughout the trajectory of a life-limiting 117
- condition and at the end of life. The Consensus Statement should be applied to support 118
- parents who provide this type of care. 119

120

Guiding principles

Guiding principles

122 1. Be family-centred

- 123 Children, young people and families have the right to make care decisions, whenever
- 124 possible. Parents, families and carers should be involved, in accordance with legislation.

2. Align with values, needs and wishes 125

- 126 End-of-life care should consider the child or young person's expressed wishes (which may be
- 127 expressed verbally or non-verbally), regarding the circumstances, environment and place in
- 128 which they wish to die. Their needs, goals and wishes for end-of-life care may change over
- 129

135

121

130 3. Provide children with information they can understand

- 131 Children and young people should be provided with health information that they can
- 132 understand at the end of their life. Parents hold legal responsibility for decision-making about
- 133 their child or young person's care and should also receive health information that they can
- 134 understand.

4. Consider cultural, spiritual and psychosocial needs

- 136 Meeting the cultural, spiritual and psychosocial needs of children and their families and carers
- 137 is as important as meeting their physical needs. This may include considerations such as
- 138 beliefs and practices around the end of a baby, child or young person's life and dying, and
- after death care practices; taking into account the time it may take to shape practices and 139
- 140 processes accordingly. For First Nations peoples, this extends to considering how connection
- with ancestors, kin, community, and country is enabled in end-of-life and after death care. 141

5. Include qualified, skilled and experienced multidisciplinary care 142

- 143 Effective communication, collaboration and teamwork that ensures continuity and coordination
- 144 of care between multidisciplinary and interdisciplinary teams, within and between care
- 145 settings, during transitions of care, and across multiple episodes of care is required.

6. Ensure the right to refuse medical treatment 146

- 147 Decisions regarding treatment may be made in advance and remain valid unless the child or
- 148 young person and their parents state otherwise. Parents have the right to refuse medical
- 149 treatments for their children, provided such decisions do not go against what is objectively in
- the child's best interests based upon all of the relevant circumstance and in accordance with 150
- 151 applicable laws.

152

155

7. Not be burdensome or harmful

- 153 It is unethical to provide burdensome investigations, treatments and transfers of care to
- 154 babies, children or young people that can be of no benefit or are harmful.

8. Not offer unreasonable hope

- 156 Unless required by law, clinicians are not obliged to initiate or continue treatments that will not
- 157 offer a reasonable hope of benefit or improve a baby, child or young person's quality of life.

9. Continue after a baby, child or young person has died 158

Care of a deceased baby, child or young person, and bereavement care for parents, carers, siblings, family and loved ones, extends beyond the death of the baby, child or young person.

160 161

Essential elements

Essential elements

Figure 1: Overview of the 10 essential elements for safe and high-quality end-of-life care

164 165

163



166

167

Section A: Care processes

The essential elements 1 – 5 describe how end-of-life care should be approached

171 The first step in providing safe and high-quality end-of-life care to babies, children and young people is to recognise children who would benefit from such care. 17 End-of-life care is 172 173 comprehensive care delivered in a coordinated way. Everyone involved needs to work 174 together to achieve the child's end-of-life goals. All children have a right to dignity, comfort and privacy, and to be cared for respectfully and with compassion. The prevention and relief of 175 176 suffering is the highest priority.

Shared decision-making is a process that allows children, young people, parents and healthcare teams to work together to reach decisions in the child's best interests in accordance with the Family Law Act 1975, based on the scientific evidence available, the child's stage of development, the realities of the child's clinical condition and treatment options, and the choices, values and preferences of the child and their family.

170

177

178

179

Essential element 1: Recognising end of life 183

- 184 The first step in providing safe and high-quality end-of-life care is to recognise children who 185 would benefit from such care ¹⁷.
- 186 Routine use of trigger tools and questions can prompt healthcare workers to use their clinical judgment to make a holistic assessment of whether a child might benefit from end-of-life care 187
- ^{17, 18}. Recognising that a baby, child or young person is at the end of their life offers 188
- 189 opportunities to identify their needs. This includes ensuring the child's comprehensive plan for 190 care aligns with their expressed values, goals and wishes.
- Predicting prognosis and when a child will die can be difficult ¹⁹. Children die from a range of 191 conditions, with a significant percentage dying from conditions not widely seen in the adult 192 193 population. For some children, it may be hard to distinguish reversible deterioration from 194 irreversible deterioration that is part of the normal dying process. In such cases, it may be 195 appropriate to consider a trial of treatment for a defined period to assess the reversibility of a child or young person's deterioration. Healthcare workers should be aware of the referral 196 197 criteria, processes and timelines for accessing specialist paediatric palliative care services and 198 other support services. Healthcare services delivering end-of-life care should:
 - Aim to identify whether a baby, child or young person is likely to die within 12 months (the medium term), where it is possible episodes of acute deterioration may be reversible. This period can be a key opportunity to talk to the child and their family, carers and loved ones about advance care planning
 - Aim to identify whether a baby, child or young person is likely to die within days or weeks (the short term), where acute deterioration is likely to be irreversible

Actions

199

200

201

202 203

204

205

206

207 208

209

212

213

214

215

216 217

218

219

220 221

222

223

- 1.1 Use screening mechanisms to recognise children who could benefit from end-of-life care interventions. Ask yourself 19, 20:
 - Would you be surprised if this child died in the next 12 months?
 - Would you be surprised if this child died in the next days or weeks?
- 1.2 Use condition-specific mortality risk prediction tools and monitor critical events to consider 210 211 and react appropriately to end-of-life circumstances such as 21:
 - Life threatening trauma or disease
 - Life-limiting conditions
 - Poor or incomplete responses to medical treatment
 - Continued deterioration despite intervention. This may include a decline in the child's condition, or a clinical determination that they will not benefit from interventions such as surgery, dialysis or treatment in intensive care
 - Repeated escalation to the rapid response team in acute services, particularly if the child has been admitted for more than one week
 - Multisystem comorbidities (such as involving the cardiovascular, pulmonary or endocrine system)
 - Reaching the limits of medical therapy
 - Multiple recent admissions to hospital for exacerbation of a chronic condition
 - Multiple or extended stays in hospital

Considerations for Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander babies, children and young people

Support services, such as those provided by Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander Liaison Officers, should be offered to families early.

Regardless of the location in which First Nations people live, their worldview is founded upon connections to kin, community, ancestors, the land and their specific country which extends to traditional lands, ancestral country and/ or a community of significance.

Families of Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander babies, children or young people likely to die within days or weeks will often prefer to return home so the baby, child or young person can die on Country. It is essential to ensure smooth transitions and coordination of appropriate services. Healthcare services should liaise with Aboriginal or Torres Strait Islander communities to support appropriate communication and involvement from, or collaboration with, the child's kinship system, Elders or specific Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander Land Councils and community organisations to support appropriate communication and involvement.

225

Considerations for neonates

Recognising that an unborn baby may receive end-of-life care can be identified antenatally when a diagnosis of a severe congenital anomaly is made. This can allow for anticipatory discussions and enables proactive, family-centred planning, including parallel planning for prognostic uncertainty, to support families through complex decisions and prepare for potential outcomes.

Essential element 2: Family-centred communication and shared decision making

- 230 Healthcare workers should adopt a family-centred approach to communication and 231 decision-making and involve the child or young person in discussions about their own care, 232 even when they are not able to make decisions on their own. Recognising the values, needs 233 and wishes of children in their care is an obligation of all healthcare workers. However, family-234 centred care means that the family is involved in communication and recognised for decision-235 making in a child or young person's life. The child or young person's stage of development 236 should be considered when involving them in decision-making and communication should be 237 tailored to meet their needs. This is equally important for children and young people with 238 developmental or intellectual disability.
- 239 Conversations about death, dying and the end of a child or young person's life require 240 compassion, knowledge, experience, sensitivity and skill on the part of healthcare workers. All 241 communication processes should recognise and be responsive to the individual preferences 242 and needs of the child or young person and their family. Plain language should be used, 243 avoiding euphemisms such as 'not doing well'.
- 244 The child's level of involvement in decision-making should be based on the child's age, 245 assessed ability and state legislation. Consult with the parent or caregivers or the young 246 person themselves to determine the best approach. In some cases, older children may be 247 capable of decision-making if they have a sufficient understanding of their clinical condition 248 and treatment options. The purpose of an end-of-life care conversation will depend on the 249 circumstances of the child or young person involved. In some cases, the purpose will be to 250 impart information. In other cases, decisions may need to be made about specific aspects of care. Early referral to support services should be promoted to improve care experiences and 251 252 actively engage the child or young person at the end of their life, as well as their family 14.

Actions

253

228

- 254 **2.1** Identify the person/s with parental responsibility.
- 255 2.2 Assess the ability of the child to be involved in discussions and decision-making about 256 their care, in accordance with state legislation. This ability may change across the course of the illness and as the child develops. 257
- 258 2.3 Identify opportunities for proactive and pre-emptive advance care planning and end-of-life 259 care discussions with the child or young person and their parents, to align care with their 260 values and wishes, and cultural and spiritual care needs, and reduce the need for urgent, 261 after-hours discussions in emergency situations.
- 262 2.4 Identify culturally appropriate decision-maker(s) as early as possible so that strategies can 263 be put in place for obtaining their input in discussions about end-of-life care. Common 264 assumptions about death and dying, and about children or young people and families as 265 decision-makers may not be correct.
- 266 2.5 Be respectful, sensitive and responsive to the preferences and needs of the child or young 267 person at the end of their life, including with regard to their identity, culture, religious beliefs, 268 gender identity, sexual orientation and loved ones (including family of choice).

- 269 **2.6** Prepare to have conversations about end-of-life care that can include:
 - Discussions involving the child or young person's general practitioner or coordinator of their care about prognosis and options to develop a coordinated approach to planning and delivering end-of-life care
 - Familiarisation with the child or young person's history and current condition, their family structure, and cultural and spiritual needs and preferences
 - Organising enough time for uninterrupted discussion in a safe guiet and private environment
 - Ensuring that the child or young person and family has access to their tailored communication aids and offer interpreters as required
 - Arranging for the appropriate people to be in attendance ideally, this will include the child or young person, their parents and family, and other relevant healthcare workers or teams, and may extend to spiritual and cultural advisors for additional layers of support
- 283 2.7 Provide the parents with information identifying the healthcare workers responsible for leading and/or coordinating end-of-life care. Whenever possible, involve these healthcare 284 285 workers in discussions.
- 286 2.8 Ensure there are regular end-of-life conversations that are family-centred and tailored to 287 meet the health literacy needs of the child, parents and any other participants.
- 288 2.9 Provide parents with an honest and straightforward summary in plain language, including 289 a clinical assessment of the situation, appropriate and feasible options for treatment, any risks 290 and potential side effects, and the likelihood of the baby, child or young person's condition 291 improving in response to such treatment.
- 292 2.10 Be compassionate and sensitive to the child or young person's situation. Allow enough 293 time for those involved to absorb, process and react to information provided. Multiple 294 discussions may be required.
- 295 2.11 Include information in end-of-life discussions about organ and tissue donation for 296 transplantation in circumstances where donation is possible and there is no identified cultural 297 objection. This extends to tumour, organ and tissue donation for scientific research. Ensure 298 these discussions are conducted with advice from the state or territory DonateLife agency and 299 are led by healthcare workers who have attended the core Family Donation Conversation 300 workshop.
- 301 2.12 Clearly document the content of discussions and any agreed plan of care in the baby, 302 child or young person's healthcare record and My Health Record if available. Document any 303 unresolved issues along with a plan for follow-up.
- 304 2.13 Communicate the content of the discussion and plan of care, including any limitations of 305 medical treatment and resuscitation plans, to all healthcare workers involved in the child's 306 care and ensure to prioritise the child or young person's and parents' wishes.
- 307 2.14 Discussions on memory-making, such as photos, hand and footprints, recording of a 308 heartbeat, preservation of a lock of hair, and religious rituals or cultural ceremonies should 309 occur in alignment with the wishes of the child and their family.

270

271

272

273

274

275 276

277

278

279

280 281

Considerations for Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander babies, children and young people

Cultural approaches and expectations

It is important to ensure culturally safe care for Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander babies, children and young people and their families at the end of their life including provision of cultural supports. This includes respecting cultural protocols, decision-making structures, and connections to Country, kinship and community. Healthcare services should provide access to advice and support from Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander liaison officers and health workers, and interpreters, or ensure appropriate community contact information is available.

Families should be offered the opportunity to include Elders and significant others for cultural and decision-making support throughout the care journey. This may include support for cultural practices, spiritual needs and accommodation or adjustment to visitation practices to the extent that the family wishes.

Differences in communication styles, including the importance of silence and nonverbal cues, should be respected. There are many Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander languages, and English may be a second or third language for some families.

Yarning and other culturally appropriate communication methods should be used to explain care options, explore values and beliefs, build trust and support decision making. Aboriginal health workers and liaison officers can help guide culturally appropriate care and engagement and can assist clinicians to clarify the requirements of the baby, child or young person at the end of their life.

Enabling culturally responsive care through service delivery

Health services play a key role in enabling culturally safe care through flexible and respectful service delivery. Healthcare workers should introduce themselves in person to Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander families and children wherever possible. At a minimum a video conference should be offered.

Clinicians should tailor their communication, and engagement approaches to meet family preferences, using interpreters or cultural support where needed to ensure the information conveyed is appropriate and understood. Clinicians may be required to explain the young person's end-of-life plan (which may be better understood as an end-of-life story) to multiple people and may involve more than the individual and the immediate family to ensure informed decision-making can occur.

Service models should accommodate large, extend family visitation due to Aboriginal family/kinship relationships and family-led decision making. The best approach is to work with the family/spokesperson and Aboriginal and/or Torres Strait Islander health workers to coordinate care and visitation and ensure this is clearly communicated to all staff. Rooming-in options and access to cultural spaces should be supported where possible.

Considerations for neonates

A collaborative approach is essential for end-of-life conversations in neonatal end-of-life care, involving key clinicians from various specialties. These can include midwives, obstetricians and maternal fetal teams, and Neonatal Intensive Care Unit (NICU) healthcare workers including neonatologists, neonatal nurses, and neonatal allied health professionals. Conversations with the family's General Practitioner (GP) are also important, however in many situations the GP may know the family but may not have met the neonate.

Parenting a new baby with profound health concerns can be an overwhelming experience: comprehensive support for both parents' caregiving and decision-making roles is vital. A Family-Integrated Care (FICare) approach, widely adopted in many NICUs, is highly valuable. This framework empowers families to actively participate in their neonate's care and parenting, fostering a sense of involvement and control during a challenging time 6.

Families should be provided privacy. Being on a postnatal ward where there are also healthy newborns can be challenging for some families. Preferred care locations, including NICU, home or hospice, should be discussed and be aligned with parent and family wishes 9.

Discussions on memory-making, such as photos, hand and footprints, and naming ceremonies should occur in alignment with parent and family wishes.

Considerations for children with communication difficulties

Communication difficulties at the end of a child or young person's life may impact a child's ability to safely and readily express their thoughts and the decisions they make about care. Consideration should be made towards supporting children to effectively communicate, including asking parents and carers about how their child prefers to communicate. Children may require tailored communication aids and supports to participate in care planning and decision-making due to difficulties with verbal communication or other factors, including cognition or fluctuating alertness.

311

312 313

Essential element 3: Multidisciplinary collaboration and coordination of care

Overall responsibility for coordinating a child's end-of-life care and ensuring effective

318	communication and collaboration should be allocated to a person or team ²² .
319	This responsibility could be allocated to a general practitioner, nurse, allied health
320	professional, paediatric palliative care team, parent, family member or someone else
321	depending on the circumstances. The appointed person should understand the requirements,
322	have capacity to perform the role, and understand that they are part of a multidisciplinary team
323	caring for the child at the end of their life.
324	Children often receive care from a range of organisations that have different approaches to
325	managing end-of-life care. Multidisciplinary collaboration is a process where healthcare
326	workers from different disciplines and/or healthcare services share clinical information to
327	optimise the delivery of comprehensive care for a person. This includes ensuring effective
328	communication and liaison between all healthcare services involved in care, particularly at the
329	interface between different services and teams, such as between hospital and
330	community-based services, or between the treating team and after-hours care providers ²³ .
331	Plans should specify how information, including provision of cultural support and access to
332	spiritual support, at these transition points will be communicated to a child and their family,

- Coordinating care reduces the risk of a child at the end of their life receiving contradictory 334 information and poorly organised care ²⁴. It also improves the experiences of care for children 335 and their families ²⁵. Coordinated care requires clear and agreed roles and responsibilities for 336 337 different people involved, and defined processes for care planning. The goals and wishes of a 338 child at the end of their life should be included in the comprehensive plan for care.
- The plan needs to be accessible and clear to all healthcare workers so that care can be 339 340 effectively coordinated.

Actions

carers and other support people.

316

317

333

341

347

348

349

350 351

352

- 342 **3.1** Assign a person to lead and coordinate the baby, child or young person's end-of-life care.
- 343 3.2 Explain the roles and responsibilities of all healthcare workers to the child, parents and 344 those involved in their care.
- 3.3 Ensure all members of the multidisciplinary or interdisciplinary team are aware that they 345 346 are responsible for:
 - Communicating in a psychologically and culturally safe, person-centred and family-centred way, and sharing and supporting decision-making
 - Identifying existing advance care plans and providing care in accordance with the child and family's expressed values, needs and wishes, including after death care
 - Referring children with specific needs to appropriate services
 - Documenting and communicating the agreed plan for care and any limitations of medical treatment when handing over care responsibilities to other healthcare workers involved in the child's care
- 355 3.4 Discuss the range of views around future treatment with the child and parents to minimise confusion and ensure that they understand their options. 356

OFFICIAL

3.5 Establish processes for healthcare workers and the child and their family, carers and other support people to voice concerns and respond accordingly.

359

Essential element 4: High-quality care

- The goal of healthcare workers providing end-of-life care to children and young people should be to deliver high-quality care that is culturally safe and appropriate to the needs, symptoms, goals and wishes of the child, and their family, at the end of their life. It should also be aligned with their expressed wishes and goals. These should be sought early, with appropriate psychosocial, spiritual, cultural, religious and emotional support offered in response ²⁶.
- 366 For some children approaching the end of their life, there will be a long period of transition 367 when treatment will continue for reversible complications or reversible episodes of deterioration. Children may benefit from a palliative approach in conjunction with active 368 369 medical treatment of their illness. Parents have the right to refuse medical treatment, provided 370 such decisions do not go against the child or young person's best interests, and clinicians are 371 under no obligation to initiate or continue treatments that will not offer a reasonable hope of benefit or improve the baby, child or young person's quality of life 27. Specific medical 372 decisions about treatments that could be provided in the event of deterioration may be 373 374 documented in the health care record. These would include therapies that may be tried for a 375 short time to test their ability to reverse deterioration and any other potential effects.
- Processes should be in place to support proactive, anticipatory and individualised planning for end-of-life care. When treatments cease to provide benefit or become uncomfortable and burdensome, planning should focus on providing comfort to both the child and their family and carers. Bereavement care should continue for parents, carers, siblings, family and loved ones beyond the child's death as required.

Actions

381

382

383

384

385

- **4.1** Discuss goals of care, the plan for care and any limitations of medical treatment early, including cultural and spiritual needs and practices. Ensure these discussions are clearly documented in the healthcare record by healthcare workers. Ensure healthcare workers are aware of their roles and responsibilities to routinely review and update documentation.
- 4.2 Offer or revisit <u>advance care planning</u> ²⁸ if the child is likely to die within 12 months, and particularly if symptoms and needs fluctuate and change. This may take multiple and ongoing meetings with the child or young person and their parents, where appropriate those who can offer decision-making and cultural support, and other health professionals involved in care.
- 4.3 Avoid unnecessary tests and treatments, to reduce the burden associated with medical
 treatment. This includes deprescribing medicines and avoiding non-beneficial investigations or
 interventions, and unnecessary observations.
- 4.4 Clearly communicate medical decisions, including the rationale, to discontinue or not instigate non-beneficial observations, investigations or treatments with the family, and document those decisions.
- 4.5 Reconsider the goals of care, the plan for care, and any limitations of medical treatment including resuscitation plans as the baby, child or young person's condition or circumstances change. Provide the child or young person, parents and any others involved with the opportunity to discuss their treatment further, and to review the comprehensive plan for care at any time.
- 4.6 Ensure the comprehensive plan for care is readily available to all healthcare workers
 involved in the baby, child or young person's care.

- 403 **4.7** When care priorities change, reassure the child or young person and family that 404 comprehensive compassionate care continues for children at the end of their life, ensuring comfort, and time to fulfill spiritual and cultural practices associated with this time. 405
- 406 **4.8** Prioritise adequate pain relief and symptom control to prevent and relieve suffering. 407 Manage physical symptoms and provide for psychosocial, emotional, social and spiritual 408 needs within scope of practice and in alignment with the child or young person's and parent's 409 wishes and plan for care. Review treatment with the team regularly.
- 410 **4.9** Provide a plan for eating and drinking that supports dignity, quality of life and enjoyment of 411 food and drink for as long as the baby, child or young person wishes.
- 412 **4.10** Consider a process to determine the risks and benefits of transferring the baby, child or young person between services or to their home, in alignment with their family's wishes. 413
- 414 **4.11** Develop processes to tailor bereavement supports that meet the immediate needs of 415 parents, siblings, family and loved ones and extend to meet their ongoing and future needs as 416 required.
- 417 4.12 Identify local support resources for bereavement referrals and provide information to 418 bereaved family and other loved ones about how to access ongoing information and support 419 in a format they can use. In the immediate, this may include information and support about funeral arrangements, or other cultural ceremonies and rituals. 420
- 421 **4.13** Establish partnerships with organisations that can provide ongoing bereavement care for 422 parents, carers, siblings, families and healthcare workers.

Considerations for Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander babies, children and young people

Priorities identified by First Nation families should be determined, and care should be culturally appropriate, respectful and align with identified individual needs. Noting that what is culturally appropriate care in one family community may differ to that of another.

It may be important to include additional family members and decision-makers from a baby, child or young person's community. Elders are highly valued and can provide decision-making support and advice regarding cultural practices and care that are important at end-of-life.

Best practice is to engage with the child and their family alongside significant others (Elders and kin) to determine cultural needs and respect specific cultural obligations.

Consideration should also be given to supporting children at the end of their lives to return to Country and providing end-of-life care on Country whenever possible and in alignment with the family's wishes.

Referral to rural services or remote clinics to ensure a smooth transition between services should include plans and the family's preferences and bereavement support requirements. This may require a facilitated introduction or handover or collaborative outreach care. Broader referral pathways should be considered for Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander families to support culturally appropriate burials and bereavement practices.

Considerations for neonates

Assessment using validated neonatal-specific tools and observations of non-verbal cues can be used to assess discomfort or distress. Discomfort and distress can often be effectively managed with non-pharmacological comfort measures, including minimal handling, facilitated tucking, swaddling, non-nutritive sucking, and kangaroo care (skin-toskin). If safe to do so, some parents may wish to provide comfort feeding for their baby. Pharmacological management is also often appropriate, using appropriate dosing and routes.

Parents and families may wish to engage in memory-making and parent-bonding activities and supports should be offered to facilitate this. Many neonates may not have the opportunity to ever be at home. Consider empowering the family to bring elements of their outside of hospital life into their baby's hospital space, if they wish to do so.

The Stillbirth Clinical Care Standard 7 provides additional guidance to support best practice care for bereavement care following perinatal loss.

Considerations for children with disability

End-of-life care for children with disability can be associated with a change in their physical care needs. Reassurance for parents, families and carers to participate in comfort-focused cares can be helpful.

Healthcare professionals should:

- Plan for reasonable adjustments to ensure the needs of children with disability, their families, and carers are met
- Understand the child or young person and the disability
- Communicate directly with the child or young person and their family and carers
- Act to provide required care

A National Disability Insurance Scheme (NDIS) support coordinator may be part of the multidisciplinary team that cares for a child or young person at the end of their life. The National Disability Insurance Scheme Act 2013 established the NDIS and recognises the rights of people with a disability to:

- Participate equally in society
- Receive reasonable and necessary supports for this participation
- Have choice and control over decisions in their life

425

424

Bereavement support

Bereavement support includes the emotional, psychosocial and spiritual support provided to families and loved ones before and after the death of a child or young person. It is designed to help people cope with grief, loss and adjustment ⁵. In Australia, bereavement support may look different in different communities, depending on the lived experiences and cultural backgrounds of those involved. For example, some culturally and linguistically diverse communities may prefer to be directly involved in end-of-life care 8. At the same time, it is important to recognise that there will always be different individual responses and preferences within any community.

Bereavement support is fundamental for families and loved ones to have a good end-of-life care experience. Care extends beyond the death of the baby, child or young person, and abrupt cessation may be detrimental. Some families are also at risk of prolonged or complicated grief. Early assessment and supportive measures to address the bereavement needs of families minimises adverse physical and emotional responses. Support services that provide spiritual, pastoral, or culturally specific counselling may assist some families to grieve and referral to such services should be offered to families as early as possible. Referral to partner organisations may also be required.

Essential element 5: Responding to

concerns 429

428

441

- 430 When concerns are raised about a baby, child or young person approaching the end of their
- 431 life or decision-making is particularly complex, timely and appropriate assistance should be
- obtained from a suitably skilled healthcare worker or team. 432
- 433 Physical, psychosocial, cultural or spiritual distress requires rapid assistance from a suitably
- 434 skilled healthcare worker. A second opinion should be provided by an independent healthcare
- 435 worker when responding to concerns that end-of-life care needs are not being
- 436 adequately addressed.
- 437 Responding to concerns may require the support of additional healthcare workers, or the use
- 438 of videoconferencing or teleconferencing to access off-site help, such as specialist paediatric
- 439 palliative care or consultants. A person skilled in clinical ethics, mediation and/or the law
- 440 should be available for managing conflict, complex family dynamics or ethical issues.

Actions

- 442 5.1 Ensure that there is a system in place for parents and carers to independently raise
- 443 concerns about end-of-life care, or to seek a second opinion when needed.
- 444 5.2 Establish policies and procedures that clearly define criteria and processes for raising
- 445 concerns about end-of-life care.
- **5.3** Support the child or young person at the end of their life, and their family and carers, to 446
- understand the triggers and process for requesting an urgent review of care and how this will 447
- 448 be provided.
- 449 5.4 Undertake a rapid healthcare review if a concern regarding unmet end-of-life care needs
- 450 is raised.
- 451 5.5 Provide healthcare workers and the child or young person and their family and carers with
- 452 rapid access to specialist paediatric palliative care advice by agreed means.
- 453 5.6 Ensure a medical officer or nurse practitioner of sufficient expertise and authority to
- support ethical shared decision-making with families regarding withdrawal of non-beneficial 454
- 455 treatment, including options for redirection of care to comfort measures when withdrawing
- 456 treatment, is contactable when a rapid response to acute deterioration is required.
- 457 5.7 Where possible, ensure advance care planning conversations occur early and explore
- 458 treatment pathways to alleviate suffering. Completed and current advance care planning
- 459 documents improve the family's experiences and by minimising time-pressured decision
- making. It enables pre-determined timing to redirect futile and non-beneficial care to comfort 460
- 461 measures and memory-making and avoids after hours and emergent decision-making
- regarding withdrawal of care. 462
- 463 5.8 When after-hours decision-making is required because of a sudden or unexpected
- 464 deterioration in the child's condition, a review by the healthcare worker responsible for
- coordinating care should occur as soon as possible. 465
- 466 **5.9** Communicate critical information to the person responsible for coordinating care in a
- 467 detailed and structured way. This should include the outcomes of any call for assistance, and
- 468 the plan for follow-up or further review of care options for the baby, child or young person at
- 469 the end of their life.

OFFICIAL

- 470 5.10 Calls for assistance should be used as a teaching and mentoring opportunity for other healthcare workers and students when appropriate. 471
- 472 5.11 Recognise that children and their families can experience anticipatory loss and grief which is frequently accompanied by emotional and spiritual distress. Psychosocial and 473 spiritual support and bereavement care is key to responding to distress. 474

Section B: Organisational processes

The essential elements 6–10 describe the organisational processes required for the effective delivery of safe and high-quality end-of-life care for babies, children and young people.

477 478

479

480

481

482

483

- Healthcare services delivering care to children at the end of their life should recognise and prioritise this care ¹⁴. This includes working with organisations or sectors to optimise care continuity and communication between different service providers particularly during transitions of care. Policies and systems need to guide the actions of boards, executives, managers, healthcare workers and other employees, volunteers, and students, to ensure a consistent and responsive approach
- Healthcare organisations should ensure the workforce is equipped with the skills to identify
 when and how provide end-of-life care, provide comfort care and incorporate opportunities for
 making lasting positive memories specific to each family aligned with their cultural and spiritual
 beliefs.

C

Essential element 6: Leadership and

governance 489

488

501

- 490 Clinical governance is central to providing the best outcomes for patients. It is the combination
- 491 of culture, systems and processes that enables everyone in a health service to deliver care
- that is consistently high quality and improving. A systematic approach and committed 492
- 493 leadership are necessary to improve the experiences of someone at the end of their life.
- 494 Cultural change may be required to prioritise end-of-life care for children and young people in
- 495 some healthcare settings.
- 496 Qualified and skilled healthcare workers are required to provide safe and high-quality
- 497 end-of-life care to children. Permanent positions can be more successful than time-limited
- 498 roles. Ongoing learning and support should be provided. Healthcare services should also
- 499 provide practical support to address moral distress, prevent moral injury and burnout of
- 500 healthcare workers.

Actions

- 502 6.1 Provide opportunities for families of babies, children and young people at the end of their
- 503 life to partner with the healthcare service to improve care delivery.
- 504 **6.2** Incorporate the development, implementation and ongoing review of systems for
- 505 end-of-life care for children and young people into governance frameworks and include
- 506 processes for:
- 507 Appropriate delegation of responsibilities and accountability for decisions and actions
- 508 Representation of families and carers of children at the end of their lives, healthcare 509 workers, managers and executives
- 510 Regular review of performance data, including completion and currency of advance care 511 planning documentation, interventions, education, and training, and advice on potential for 512 improvements
- 513 Regular review of resource allocation, and advice on potential for improvements
- 514 **6.3** Implement a policy regarding end-of-life care for children that addresses:
- 515 Governance arrangements, including reporting requirements
- 516 The roles, responsibilities and accountabilities of healthcare workers providing 517 end-of-life care to children
- 518 Provision of specialist palliative care services
- 519 Processes for advance care planning and appropriate medical treatment
- 520 Processes or tools for identifying babies, children and young people at the end of their life
- 521 Alignment with systems for recognising and responding to deterioration
- 522 Access to specialist paediatric palliative care advice and services
- 523 Communication processes and tools
- 524 Processes to ensure healthcare workers are not pressured to provide non-beneficial 525 interventions

OFFICIAL

- 526 Processes to ensure clear transitions of care and communication between 527 healthcare services
- 528 Cultural safety
- 529 Dispute resolution processes, including mediation, bioethics expertise and legal support, in situations of complex end-of-life decision-making or conflict 530
- 531 Training and education requirements for healthcare workers
 - Access to professional clinical supervision to suit the varied needs of healthcare workers
- 533 Access to formal and informal self-care planning, debriefing or counselling that includes strategies to mitigate moral injury and burnout of healthcare workers 534
- 535 Evaluation, audit and feedback processes

536

532

- 537 **6.4** Identify potential variations in the application of the end-of-life care policy that might exist 538 in different circumstances (such as after hours).
- 539 6.5 Implement policies and processes that address advance care directives, organ and tissue 540 donation, limitations of medical treatment, and end-of-life decision-making to ensure that the 541 care delivered in response to deterioration is consistent with state legislation, appropriate clinical practice and the child or young person's and family's expressed wishes. 542

Considerations for Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander babies, children and young people

Cultural safety creates an environment that is safe for Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander people and aims to address interpersonal and institutional racism and discrimination. Cultural safety plans and policies for end-of-life care should be developed and reviewed in partnership with Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander people, families and carers, Elders, communities, other support people and other services.

Cultural competence

Experiences of end-of-life care, including care expectations, religious and spiritual practices, and after death customs, particularly for children, are heavily influenced by cultural values and beliefs. Consideration of a family's needs should be individualised and culturally responsive.

Advance care planning discussions should be approached and delivered in accordance with cultural values and beliefs. Practices and expectations related to culture should be addressed and documented in the advance care planning documentation.

Capability to deliver culturally sensitive care requires an organisation-wide approach to planning, implementing and evaluating services for children from culturally and linguistically diverse backgrounds, including migrant and refugee communities.

To support cultural competence, a service or provider should:

- Value diversity
- Review the diversity of the local community
- Have the capacity for cultural self-assessment
- Be conscious of the dynamics that occur when cultures interact
- Improve cross-cultural knowledge
- Adapt service delivery so that it reflects an understanding of the diversity between and within cultures

Support clinicians to provide culturally responsive care through provision of training, tools and resources (including time to become culturally competent).

544

Essential element 7: Support,

education and training 547

- An educated and suitably skilled and qualified workforce is essential to providing appropriate 548 end-of-life care to children ²⁹. All healthcare workers should have a shared understanding of 549
- the healthcare services terminology, policies, processes and practices. Education 550
- 551 should include:
- 552 Decision-making, capacity and consent
- 553 Shared decision making
- 554 Advance care planning
- 555 Local referral and communication processes, and relevant legislation and other regulatory frameworks 556
- 557 Family-centred care informed by understanding of impact of the loss of child and 558 experience of grief for parents, siblings, grandparents and kinship groups.
- 559 Redirecting care for comfort and optimal family experience
- 560 Condition-specific training as required
- 561 How to have conversations about end-of-life
- 562 Inclusion and diversity
- 563 Cultural safety
- 564 Moral distress and self-care, peer support and clinical supervision
- 565 Dealing with death and dying, particularly of a child, can be challenging for healthcare workers 566 and can also affect other staff members such as administrative staff, food servers, porters and
- 567 cleaners. It can add considerably to workplace stress. Chronic unmanaged stress can erode
- empathy and potentially contribute to poorer experiences for children and young people being 568
- provided end-of-life care 30. It is important that systems are in place to facilitate access to peer 569
- 570 support, mentoring and appropriate clinical supervision for healthcare workers and support
- 571 staff.

576

- 572 The primary purpose of supervision systems should be to support members of
- 573 multidisciplinary and interdisciplinary teams and other healthcare workers, and to prevent or
- 574 resolve distress. These systems may also contribute to learning and the development of skills
- 575 in the delivery of end-of-life care.

Actions

- 7.1 Develop and maintain a policy that describes how supervision and support will be provided 577
- 578 to healthcare workers who care for babies, children or young people at the end of their life.
- 579 **7.2** Provide relevant education to all members of the workforce about recognising babies.
- 580 children and young people at the end of their life and managing their care. Make sure
- 581 education is provided at the commencement of employment and as part of regular
- 582 professional development.
- 583 7.3 Ensure healthcare workers caring for children at the end of their life are provided with
- 584 education and support to:

OFFICIAL

- 585 Identify babies, children and young people approaching the end of their life
- 586 Initiate interventions to support person-centred and family-centred, safe and high-quality 587 end-of-life care for children that is relevant to their scope of clinical practice, including comfort care measures and memory-making strategies that alleviate discomfort and 588 distress of the child and their family 589
- 590 Support the cultural, spiritual and psychosocial needs of the baby, child or young person at 591 the end of their life
- 592 Recognise condition-specific illness trajectories and changing care priorities, including 593 limitations of medical treatment that are relevant to their scope of clinical practice
- 594 Understand the role of early advance care planning and the importance of revisiting conversations to retain currency of advance care planning documentation 595
- 596 Understand shared and supported decision-making strategies
- 597 Understand end-of-life ethical and medico-legal issues, including the relevant professional ethical frameworks and the relevant legislation in the state or territory of practice. 598 599 including:
- 600 o refusal of treatment
- 601 withholding and withdrawing treatment
- 602 o non-beneficial treatment
- 603 Support provision of end-of-life care in an appropriate environment
- 604 Document and communicate effectively
- 605 Escalate concerns in a timely manner
- 606 **7.4** Encourage healthcare workers providing end-of-life care to participate and learn from 607 discussions with children at the end of their life and their families, multidisciplinary and 608 interdisciplinary case reviews, reviews of health records, mortality and morbidity meetings, 609 and adverse event reviews.
- 610 7.5 Ensure healthcare workers are taught culturally safe approaches to providing end-of-life 611 care to First Nations babies, children and young people and those from culturally and
- 612 linguistically diverse groups, as well as appropriate approaches for children with disability.
- 613 7.6 Offer ongoing formal training in communication skills to healthcare workers at all levels, as
- these skills are critical to the delivery of end-of-life care. Training may include specific skills, 614
- 615 such as communicating with children with varying communication abilities, children with
- neurodiversity, and skills offered by DonateLife on core and practical Family Donation 616
- 617 Conversations.
- 618 7.7 Ensure healthcare workers providing end-of-life care are educated about how to recognise 619
- and develop strategies and self-care plans to cope with and resolve feelings of moral distress
- 620 and burnout in themselves and their colleagues. Provide information and access to support
- 621 services.
- 622 7.8 Encourage and support children and young people at the end of their life to participate in
- 623 providing personal stories about their experiences. These can be powerful tools for learning,
- 624 and quality and system improvement.
- 625 7.9 Ensure healthcare workers know how to access peer support, mentoring and clinical
- 626 supervision. Provide this information at the commencement of employment and as part of
- 627 regular professional development. This may include accessing external services for clinical
- 628 supervision, counselling or debriefing.

629 7.10 Support healthcare workers to develop skills in self-care, reflective learning and providing 630 peer support to colleagues. Experienced healthcare workers may help develop the skills and capacity of other healthcare workers. 631

Essential element 8: Care setting

- 633 The care setting is an important consideration for both a child at the end of their life and their 634 family. When visiting care settings outside the home, family members may experience a lack of space and privacy, reporting feelings of 'being watched' and not being able to talk openly 635 with their loved ones 8. Access to private physical spaces for gatherings contributes to the 636 quality of care offered at the end of a baby, child or young person's life. The provision of 637 638 spaces for cultural practices such as family gatherings, chanting or other important rituals 639 associated with end of life should be considered. Where possible, and where time and the 640 child's condition permit, preferred location of death should be identified as early as possible (home, hospice, on Country, hospital) and coordination initiated. 641
- 642 Where possible, make after-hours access available and support access to digital technology 643 such as video calls.

Actions

- 645 8.1 Build capacity for children to be cared for in their preferred place of death where possible - for example, at home or on Country. This could best be accomplished by healthcare 646 647 services working together.
- 648 8.2 Establish systems to ensure that essential resources required for the provision of safe and 649 high-quality end-of-life care are operational and available. Examples include private space for 650 family meetings as well as appropriate equipment and medicines.
- 651 **8.3** Establish systems and processes to support families to access care settings after hours and when other circumstances impact healthcare services, such as during a pandemic. 652
- 653 8.4 Ensure healthcare services can provide private physical spaces that meet the individual 654 needs of the child and their family at the end of their life, including spaces for families, and others that the child or young person chooses, to gather. 655
- 656 **8.5** Support families, carers, siblings and loved ones to visit the baby, child or young person at any time during the last days of life – to the extent that the child and family wishes. 657

658

632

Essential element 9: Evaluation, audit

660 and feedback

661	ΑII	deaths of ba	abies,	chi	ildren or	you	ng p	people	where	end-of-life	car	e has	been	provide	d b	у а
	_		_	_		_	-	_	_	_	_	_				

- healthcare service should be routinely reviewed to assess the safety and quality of the baby,
- 663 child or young person's end-of-life care and how care could be improved. Evaluation should
- not just assess the potential preventability of death.

Actions

- 9.1 Collect, review and report data about the effectiveness of processes and systems fordelivering end-of-life care.
- 9.2 Ensure processes exist for reporting data to inform governance and planning.
- 9.3 Develop monitoring and evaluation strategies that capture multidisciplinary and
- 670 interdisciplinary feedback and feedback from children and young people receiving care and
- their family about the quality of end-of-life care.
- 9.4 Routinely use collected data for evaluation and monitoring processes, and support data
- 673 linkage where possible. Ensure systems are simple, inexpensive, feasible and fit for purpose.
- 9.5 Ensure measures of the safety and quality of end-of-life care are ethically collected,
- accessed, used and stored with the following minimum data set:
- De-identified demographics of children at end of life, including disaggregated
 677 Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander data (where possible) to support directed
 678 improvement activity
- improvement activity
 Triggers used to identify that a baby, child or young person is approaching the end of their
- 680 life

 684 Accomment of decommentation of shored decision molding and the shill or value paragraph.
- Assessment of documentation of shared decision making and the child or young person's
 goals of care
- Alignment of the child or young person's goals of care with actual care
- Effectiveness of the treatment of symptoms, including the use pain relief, and the management of secretions and agitation
- Assessment of investigations and interventions in the final 48 hours of life
- Evidence related to advance care directives or plans being documented or received, and enacted
- Access of specialist paediatric palliative care services
- 690 Concordance with limitations of medical treatment and resuscitation plans
- The category of death: expected, unexpected, diagnosis
- The time lapse between recognition of end of life or referral to specialist paediatric palliative care and death, if appropriate
- Transfers of care in the last week of life for example, transfers to hospital from home, or from ward to intensive care
- 696 Bereavement support provided

- 697 Barriers and enablers identified by healthcare workers to provide safe and high-quality 698 end-of-life care
- 699 **9.6** Methods for collecting data could include:
 - Retrospective audit of case notes
 - Review of medicines prescribed and administered
 - Review of interventions and investigations
 - Review of documentation of response to treatment (including medicines) for symptom management
 - Follow-up with healthcare workers and other staff involved in the child's end-of-life care
 - Feedback on experiences from substitute decision-makers, families and carers of children who received end-of-life care
 - Data from mortality and morbidity review meetings.
 - 9.7 Include audit and feedback in the quality improvement process for clinical improvement, education and service provision.

Using data to improve

Data from evaluation, audit and feedback can be used to improve performance of recognition and response systems ^{1, 2} and ensure that systems are operating as planned ^{3,}

Involvement in relevant national palliative care and end-of-life care data collections can also aid in service planning.

712

700

701

702

703 704

705

706

707

708 709

710

Essential element 10: Systems to

support high quality care 714

- 715 Organisations should consider opportunities to systematise the approach to end-of-life care
- where this will support best practice. End-of-life care should be integrated into existing 716
- 717 organisational systems, and safety and quality systems to support sustainability and provide
- 718 opportunities for organisational learning.
- 719 These systems should align with the requirements of the National Safety and Quality Health
- 720 Service (NSQHS) Standards and the Primary and Community Healthcare Standards when
- 721 applicable. Aligning systems for comprehensive care with those for end-of-life care, including
- 722 those related to recognition and response to acute deterioration, will help to ensure that
- 723 children at the end of their life receive coordinated, appropriate and effective care from their
- multidisciplinary and/or interdisciplinary team. 724
- 725 Digital platforms such as My Health Record may provide benefits by improving communication
- 726 between care providers and improving continuity and coordination of care.

Actions

727

- 728 10.1 Provide systems that support healthcare workers to receive, prepare, review and update
- advance care plans and directives, according to the wishes of the person at the end of their 729
- 730 life. Ensure these systems align with the Clinical Governance Standard and Recognising and
- 731 Responding to Acute Deterioration Standard, where these Standards apply.
- 732 10.2 Ensure systems appropriately identify essential palliative medicines and provide access
- 733 to them for children at the end of their life for example provision for anticipatory prescribing.
- 734 These systems should align with the Medication Safety Standard, where applicable.
- 735 10.3 Enable systems to provide timely access to specialist palliative care clinicians, where
- 736 required for children with complex palliative care needs or as a supportive resource for other
- 737 healthcare workers. This may include off-site access via virtual health care.
- 738 10.4 Enable systems to provide timely access to specialist palliative care clinicians, where
- 739 required for children with complex palliative care needs or as a supportive resource for other
- 740 healthcare workers. This may include off-site access via virtual health care.
- 741 10.5 Implement processes to improve communication between healthcare services at
- 742 transitions of care in relation to prognosis, advance care planning, treatment and medicines.
- 743 Check these processes align with the Communicating for Safety Standard, where applicable.
- 744 10.6 Ensure systems between healthcare services support safe, secure access and sharing of
- 745 plans for care, advance care directives or plans developed in other settings.
- 746 10.7 Facilitate systems for accurate, efficient and appropriate documentation and data
- collection about end-of-life care. 747

Glossary

Glossary

- 751 Actively dying The terminal phase of life, where death is imminent and likely to occur within
- 752 hours or days, or occasionally weeks.
- Advance care directive 31 A voluntary, person-led document completed and signed by a 753
- competent person that focuses on an individual's values and preferences for future care 754
- 755 decisions, including their preferred outcomes and care. Advance care directives are
- recognised by specific legislation (statutory) or under common law (non-statutory). They come 756
- 757 into effect when an individual loses decision-making capacity.
- 758 In some states, these are known as advance health directives.
- 759 Advance care plan 31 A document that captures an individual's beliefs, values and
- 760 preferences in relation to future care decisions, but which does not meet the requirements for
- 761 statutory or common law recognition due to the person's lack of competency, insufficient
- 762 decision-making capacity or lack of formalities (such as inadequate person identification,
- 763 signature and date).
- 764 Advance care planning ³¹ A process of planning for future health and personal care whereby
- the person's values, beliefs and preferences are made known to guide decision-making at a 765
- 766 future time when that person cannot make or communicate their decisions. Registered and
- 767 non-registered health practitioners have a role in advance care planning and require skills to
- 768 facilitate these conversations effectively. The national quality standards for aged care, general
- 769 practice and healthcare services all promote advance care planning. Individuals can also
- 770 choose to engage in advance care planning with people who are not health practitioners, such
- 771 as friends or family.
- 772 **Anticipatory prescribing** When medicines are prescribed and dispensed in preparation for
- 773 a time when a person needs them. They can be used to manage symptoms in the home, with
- 774 the goals of rapid relief and avoidance of unplanned or unwarranted admission to a
- 775 healthcare facility.
- 776 Carer ²³ A person who provides personal care, support and assistance to another individual
- 777 who needs it because they have a disability, medical condition (including a terminal, chronic or
- 778 mental illness), or because they are frail and aged.
- 779 An individual is not a carer merely because they are the spouse, de facto partner, parent,
- child, other relative or guardian of an individual, or live with an individual who requires care. 780
- 781 Child/children A person under the age of 18 years, including babies and neonates (0-4
- 782 weeks).
- 783 Clinical Governance Clinical governance is central to providing the best outcomes for
- 784 patients. It is the combination of culture, systems and processes that enables everyone in a
- 785 health service to deliver care that is consistently high quality and improving.
- Clinician ²³A healthcare worker, trained as a health professional, including registered and 786
- non-registered practitioners. Clinicians may provide care within a healthcare service 787
- 788 organisation as an employee, a contractor or a credentialed healthcare provider, or under
- 789 other working arrangements. They include nurses, midwives, medical practitioners, allied
- 790 health practitioners, pharmacists, technicians and others who provide health care, as well as
- students who provide health care under supervision. 791
- **Comprehensive care** Healthcare that is based on identified goals for the episode of care. 792
- 793 These goals are aligned with the patient's and family's expressed preferences and healthcare
- 794 needs, consider the impact of the patient's health issues on their life and wellbeing, and are
- 795 clinically appropriate.

- 796 Cultural competence 32 A set of congruent behaviours, attitudes and policies that come
- 797 together in a system, agency or among healthcare workers to enable that system, agency or
- those professionals to work effectively in cross-cultural situations. 798
- 799 Cultural safety 32 Identifies that health consumers are safest when clinicians have considered
- 800 power relations, cultural differences and patients' rights. Part of this process requires clinicians
- to examine their own realities, beliefs and attitudes. Cultural safety is defined not by the 801
- 802 clinician but by the health consumer's experience – the individual's experience of the care
- 803 they are given, and their ability to access services and to raise concerns. The essential
- features of cultural safety are: 804
- 805 An understanding of one's culture
- 806 An acknowledgement of difference, and a requirement that caregivers are actively mindful 807 and respectful of difference(s)
- 808 Informed by the theory of power relations – any attempt to depoliticise cultural safety is to 809 miss the point
- 810 An appreciation of the historical context of colonisation and how racism at individual and 811 institutional levels has impacted, and continues to impact, Aboriginal and Torres Strait 812 Islander people's lives and wellbeing
- 813 That its presence or absence is determined by the experience of the recipient of care and 814 not defined by the caregiver
- 815 **Diversity** 33 The varying social, economic and geographic circumstances of consumers who
- 816 use, or may use, healthcare services, as well as their cultural backgrounds, disability status,
- 817 religions, beliefs and practices, languages spoken, sexual orientation, gender identity and
- 818 gender expression, and sex characteristics.
- 819 Effective clinical communication Two-way, coordinated and continuous communication
- 820 that results in the timely, accurate and appropriate transfer of information. Effective
- 821 communication is critical to, and supports, the delivery of safe patient care.
- 822 End of life The period when a person is living with, and impaired by, a fatal condition, even if
- 823 the trajectory is ambiguous or unknown.
- 824 This period may be years in the case of persons with chronic or malignant disease, or very
- 825 brief in the case of persons who suffer acute and unexpected illnesses or events, such as
- 826 sepsis, or trauma.
- 827 End-of-life care Includes physical, spiritual and psychosocial assessment, and holistic and
- 828 compassionate care and treatment delivered by healthcare workers. It also includes support of
- 829 the family, including parents, siblings, and other caregivers when a child is approaching the
- end of life, and care of the child or young person's body after their death. 830
- 831 A child is 'approaching the end of life' when they are likely to die within the next 12 months.
- 832 This includes children whose death is imminent (expected within a few hours or days) and
- 833 those with:
- 834 Terminal and/or life-limiting conditions
- 835 Progressive, incurable conditions
- 836 Co-existing conditions that mean that they are expected to die within 12 months
- 837 Existing conditions, if they are at risk of dying from a sudden acute crisis in their condition
- 838 Life-threatening acute conditions caused by sudden catastrophic events
- 839 **Family** ³⁴ The term family includes people identified by the child or young person as family.
- This may include people who are biologically related, however it may not. People who joined 840

- 841 the family through marriage or other relationships, such as kinship, chosen family, street
- 842 family for those experiencing homelessness, and friends (including pets) may be identified by
- 843 the child or young person as family.
- 844 Family-centred care ³⁵ Care that embraces the whole family to include parents and carers
- 845 and other family members, such as a child's siblings. Family-centred care recognises that
- 846 parents are typically the most expert about their child.
- 847 **Family Integrated care** ⁶ A model that integrates families as partners in the Neonatal
- Intensive Care Unit care team and provides a structure that extends the implementation of 848
- family-centred care. 849
- Goals of care ²³ The aims for a child's medical treatment, as agreed between the child, their 850
- parents, family and the healthcare team in the context of a shared decision-making process. 851
- Goals of care will change over time, particularly as the child enters the terminal phase. 852
- 853 Medical goals of care may include attempted cure of a reversible condition, a trial of treatment
- 854 to assess reversibility of a condition, treatment of deteriorating symptoms, or the primary aim
- of ensuring comfort for a dving child. 855
- 856 The child's goals of care may also include non-medical goals – for example, returning home or
- 857 reaching a particular milestone, such as participating in a family event.
- Healthcare service 33 A separately constituted organisation that is responsible for 858
- implementing clinical governance, administration and financial management of a service unit 859
- or service units providing health care to patients. It can be in any location or setting, including 860
- pharmacies, clinics, outpatient facilities, hospitals, patients' homes, community and primary 861
- 862 healthcare settings, practices and clinicians' rooms.
- 863 Healthcare worker A person working in health, community or aged care settings. This
- 864 includes registered health practitioners, other health practitioners, carers. Support staff in
- 865 these settings (such as those in administration or cleaning) are not considered healthcare
- 866 workers in this consensus statement.
- Health literacy ²³ The Australian Commission on Safety and Quality in Health Care separates 867
- 868 health literacy into two components - individual health literacy and the health literacy
- environment. Individual health literacy is the skills, knowledge, motivation and capacity of a 869
- consumer to access, understand, appraise and apply information to make effective decisions 870
- about health and health care, and take appropriate action. The health literacy environment is 871
- 872 the infrastructure, policies, processes, materials, people and relationships that make up the
- 873 healthcare system, which affect the ways in which consumers access, understand, appraise
- 874 and apply health-related information and services.
- 875 Interdisciplinary team A team of providers who work together to develop and implement a
- 876 plan of care. Membership depends on the services required to identify and address the
- expectations and needs of the patient, carers and family. An interdisciplinary team might 877
- typically include one or more doctors, nurses, social workers, spiritual advisers, pharmacists 878
- 879 and personal care workers. Other disciplines may be part of the team, depending on the
- 088 needs of the patient and the resources available. Hospital volunteers, patients, carers and
- family members may also be considered as part of the interdisciplinary team. 881
- 882 **Limitations of medical treatment** Medical decisions that may be made to limit the
- 883 treatments that are, or could be, provided when they will not benefit the person. A decision to
- not attempt cardiopulmonary resuscitation if a person suffers a cardiopulmonary arrest is 884
- 885 one example of a limitation of medical treatment.
- 886 Similar terms that are in common use include withdrawal or withholding of medical treatment.
- 887 Decisions to limit medical treatment may avoid prolongation of dying but will not cause a
- 888 person's death.

- 889 **Medicine** ³⁶ A chemical substance given with the intention of preventing, diagnosing, curing, 890 controlling or alleviating disease, or otherwise improving the physical or mental wellbeing of people. These include prescription, non-prescription, investigational, clinical trial and 891
- 892 complementary medicines, irrespective of how they are administered.
- Multidisciplinary team ²³ Clinicians from multiple disciplines who work together to deliver 893 comprehensive care that deals with as many of the patient's health and other needs as 894 895 possible. The team may operate under one organisational umbrella or may be from several 896 organisations brought together as a unique team. As a patient's condition changes, the composition of the team may change to reflect the changing clinical and psychosocial needs 897 of the patient. Multidisciplinary care includes interdisciplinary care. (A discipline is a branch of 898
- 899 knowledge within the health system.)
- 900 **Non-beneficial treatment** Interventions that will not be effective in treating a person's 901 medical condition or improving their quality of life. Non-beneficial treatment may include 902 interventions such as diagnostic tests, medicines, artificial hydration and nutrition, intensive 903 care, and medical or surgical procedures. Non-beneficial treatment is sometimes referred to
- 904 as futile treatment, but this is not a preferred term.
- 905 Palliative approach/ palliative care An approach to treatment that improves the quality of life of children, young people and their families facing life-limiting illness by preventing and 906 907 relieving suffering. It involves early identification, and assessment and treatment of pain and other problems (physical, psychosocial, and spiritual). End-of-life care is a specific phase of 908 909 the palliative care journey.
- 910 Parent Defined under the Family Law Act 1975 as the person or persons identified by law as 911 having parental responsibility for the child.
- 912 Parental responsibility Defined under the Family Law Act 1975 as all the duties, powers,
- 913 responsibilities and authority which, by law, parents have in relation to children. The concept
- 914 of parental responsibility in relation to Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander children is subject
- 915 to section 61F of the Family Law Act.
- 916 Reasonable adjustments Defined under the Commonwealth Disability Discrimination Act 917 1992 as actions taken to prevent indirect or direct discrimination on the basis of disability.
- 918 Resuscitation orders/plans Documents completed by a medical officer to outline the plan of 919 care in relation to emergency treatment of severe clinical deterioration.
- 920 Not for resuscitation and do not attempt resuscitation orders relate solely and specifically to
- 921 decisions to not perform cardiopulmonary resuscitation if the person has a cardiac or
- 922 respiratory arrest. In some organisations, decisions about other specific limitations of medical
- 923 treatment may also be listed as part of a resuscitation plan (for example, decisions to call a
- 924 medical emergency team or transfer a person to intensive care if they deteriorate).
- 925 Specialist palliative care Services provided by healthcare workers who have advanced 926 training in palliative care. The role of specialist palliative care services includes providing
- 927 direct care to persons with complex palliative care needs, and providing consultation services
- 928 to support, advise and educate non specialist healthcare workers who are providing palliative
- 929 care.
- 930 Shared decision making ²³ A discussion and collaboration between a person and their
- healthcare worker that brings together the person's values, goals and preferences with 931
- 932 the best available evidence about benefits, risks and uncertainties of treatment, in order to
- 933 reach the most appropriate healthcare decisions for that person.
- 934 **Supported decision-making** ³³ Enables a person with cognitive impairment to remain
- 935 involved in decisions about their health care rather than having their decision-making capacity
- 936 removed.

References

- 939 1. Clinical Excellence Commission. Between the Flags Project: Interim Evaluation Report
- 940 2013. Sydney: CEC; 2013.
- 941 2. Subbe CP, Bannard-Smith J, Bunch J, Champunot R, DeVita MA, Durham L, et al. Quality
- 942 metrics for the evaluation of Rapid Response Systems: Proceedings from the third
- international consensus conference on Rapid Response Systems. Resuscitation. 2019 943
- 944 Aug;141:1-12.

- 945 3. Hoerger M, Greer JA, Jackson VA, Park ER, Pirl WF, El-Jawahri A, et al. Defining the
- 946 Elements of Early Palliative Care That Are Associated With Patient-Reported Outcomes and
- the Delivery of End-of-Life Care. Journal of clinical oncology: official journal of the American 947
- 948 Society of Clinical Oncology. 2018;36(11):1096-1102.
- 4. Peberdy MA, Cretikos M, Abella BS, Devita M, Goldhill D, Kloeck W, et al. Recommended 949
- 950 guidelines for monitoring, reporting, and conducting research on medical emergency team,
- outreach, and rapid response systems: an Utstein-style scientific statement. A Scientific 951
- Statement from the International Liaison Committee on Resuscitation; the American Heart 952
- 953 Association Emergency Cardiovascular Care Committee; the Council on Cardiopulmonary,
- 954 Perioperative, and Critical Care; and the Interdisciplinary Working Group on Quality of Care
- 955 and Outcomes Research. Resuscitation. 2007 Dec;75(3):412-433.
- 956 5. Law Insider. Bereavement Services definition. [Internet] [cited 5 June] Available from:
- 957 https://www.lawinsider.com/dictionary/bereavement-services.
- 958 6. Family Integrated Care. Family integrated care. [Internet] 2025 [cited 24 Jun 2025] Available
- 959 from: https://familyintegratedcare.com/.
- 960 7. Australian Commission on Safety and Quality in Health Care. Stillbirth Clinical Care
- 961 Standard. Sydney: ACSQHC; 2022.
- 962 8. Rawlings D, Damarell R, Chakraborty A, Devery K, Tieman J. Rapid review of the literature
- 963 on end-of-life care in aged care and community settings. Sydney: ACSQHC: 2022.
- 964 9. Safer Care Victoria. Palliative (end of life) neonatal care. [Internet] 2025 [cited 24 Jun 2025]
- 965 Available from: https://www.safercare.vic.gov.au/best-practice-improvement/clinical-
- guidance/neonatal/palliative-end-of-life-neonatal-care. 966
- 967 10. Australian Bureau of Statistics. Language Statistics for Aboriginal and Torres Strait
- 968 Islander Peoples. [Internet] Canberra2021 Available from:
- https://www.abs.gov.au/statistics/people/aboriginal-and-torres-strait-islander-969
- peoples/language-statistics-aboriginal-and-torres-strait-islander-peoples/latest-release. 970
- 971 11. Becqué YN, Rietjens JAC, van Driel AG, van der Heide A, Witkamp E. Nursing
- 972 interventions to support family caregivers in end-of-life care at home: A systematic narrative
- 973 review. International Journal of Nursing Studies. 2019 2019/09/01/;97:28-39.
- 974 12. Donnelly S. Prizeman G. Coimín DÓ. Korn B. Hynes G. Voices that matter: end-of-life
- care in two acute hospitals from the perspective of bereaved relatives. BMC Palliative Care. 975
- 976 2018 2018/10/19;17(1):117.
- 977 13. Ziegler LE, Craigs CL, West RM, Carder P, Hurlow A, Millares-Martin P, et al. Is palliative
- care support associated with better quality end-of-life care indicators for patients with 978
- 979 advanced cancer? A retrospective cohort study. BMJ Open. 2018;8(1):e018284.
- 14. Rawlings D, Devery K, Tieman J, Tait P, Chakraborty A. Rapid review of the literature on 980
- 981 end-of life care. Sydney: ACSQHC; 2021.
- 982 15. Lystad R, Wijekulasuriya S, Chauhan A, Arnolda G, Cheek C, Harrison R, et al. Rapid
- review of the literature on paediatric end-of-life care. Sydney: ACSQHC; 2024. 983

- 984 16. Australia PC. what is palliative care? [Internet] 2025 [cited 24 September 2025] Available
- 985 from: https://palliativecare.org.au/resource/what-is-palliative-care/.
- 986 17. Australian Commission on Safety and Quality in Health Care. National Consensus
- 987 Statement: Essential elements for recognising and responding to acute physiological
- 988 deterioration. 3rd ed. Sydney: ACSQHC; 2021.
- 989 18. Mudge AM, Douglas C, Sansome X, Tresillian M, Murray S, Finnigan S, et al. Risk of 12-
- 990 month mortality among hospital inpatients using the surprise question and SPICT criteria: a
- 991 prospective study. BMJ Supportive & Palliative Care. 2018;8(2):213-220.
- 992 19. White N, Kupeli N, Vickerstaff V, Stone P. How accurate is the 'Surprise Question' at
- 993 identifying patients at the end of life? A systematic review and meta-analysis. BMC Medicine.
- 994 2017 2017/08/02;15(1):139.
- 995 20. Burke K, Coombes LH, Menezes A, Anderson A-K. The 'surprise' question in paediatric
- 996 palliative care: A prospective cohort study. Palliative Medicine. 2018;32(2):535-542.
- 997 21. Cuviello A, Yip C, Battles H, Wiener L, Boss R. Triggers for Palliative Care Referral in
- 998 Pediatric Oncology. Cancers. 2021;13(6):1419.
- 999 22. Dy SM, Apostol C, Martinez KA, Aslakson RA. Continuity, coordination, and transitions of
- 1000 care for patients with serious and advanced illness: a systematic review of interventions. J
- 1001 Palliat Med. 2013 Apr;16(4):436-445.
- 1002 23. Australian Commission on Safety and Quality in Health Care. National Safety and Quality
- Health Service Standards. 2nd ed. Sydney: ACSQHC; 2021.
- 1004 24. Zonneveld N, Driessen N, Stüssgen RAJ, Minkman MMN. Values of Integrated Care: A
- 1005 Systematic Review. International journal of integrated care. 2018;18(4):9-9.
- 1006 25. End of Life Directions for Aged Care (ELDAC). Overview of Voluntary Assisted Dying.
- 1007 [Internet] 2024 [cited 5 June 2025] Available from: https://www.eldac.com.au/Our-
- 1008 Toolkits/End-of-Life-Law/Voluntary-Assisted-Dying/Overview.
- 1009 26. Batstone E, Bailey C, Hallett N. Spiritual care provision to end-of-life patients: A
- 1010 systematic literature review. Journal of Clinical Nursing. 2020;29(19-20):3609-3624.
- 1011 27. End of Life Directions for Aged Care (ELDAC). End of Life Law in Australia: An Overview
- for the Aged Care Sector. [Internet] Canberra [updated 21 March 2025; cited 5 June 2025]
- 1013 Available from: https://www.eldac.com.au/Our-Toolkits/End-of-Life-Law/Overview-of-End-of-
- 1014 Life-Law-in-Australia.
- 1015 28. Advance Care Planning Australia. Advance Care Planning Australia. [Internet]:
- 1016 Queensland Government; [updated June 2025; cited 5 June 2025] Available from:
- 1017 https://www.advancecareplanning.org.au/.
- 1018 29. (ACN) ACoN. Achieving Quality Palliative Care for All: The Essential Role of Nurses—A
- 1019 White Paper by ACN Canberra: 2019.
- 1020 30. Hill RC, Dempster M, Donnelly M, McCorry NK. Improving the wellbeing of staff who work
- in palliative care settings: A systematic review of psychosocial interventions. Palliat Med. 2016
- 1022 Oct;30(9):825-833.
- 1023 31. Department of Health and Aged Care. National framework for advance care planning
- documents. Canberra: Australian Government; 2021. p. 36.
- 1025 32. Australian Institute of Health and Welfare. Cultural safety in health care for Indigenous
- 1026 Australians: monitoring framework. [Internet] 2023 [cited 5 June] Available from:
- 1027 https://www.aihw.gov.au/reports/indigenous-australians/cultural-safety-health-care-
- 1028 framework/contents/background-material.
- 1029 33. Australian Commission on Safety and Quality in Health Care. National Safety and Quality
- 1030 Primary and Community Healthcare Standards. Sydney: ACSQHC; 2021.

1031 1032	34. Palliative Care Australia. The National Palliative Care Standards for all health professionals and aged care. Sydney: PCA; 2022.
1033 1034	35. Palliative Care Australia, Paediatric Palliative Care Australia and New Zealand. Paediatric Palliative Care National Action Plan. Canberra2022
1035 1036	36. Department of Health and Aged Care. Glossary for the Guiding Principles and User Guide. Canberra: Australian Government; 2022.
1037	



T. +61 2 9126 3600 Level 5, 255 Elizabeth St Sydney NSW 2000 Australia

safetyandquality.gov.au

© Australian Commission on Safety and Quality in Health Care 2025